1978

Gull Laboratories Inc. v. Louis A. Roser Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for property damage arising from the loss of the contents of a laboratory flask.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried to a jury in December 1977. The jury returned a special verdict finding plaintiff thirty per cent negligent and defendant seventy per cent negligent in causing the loss. The jury found damages to plaintiff in the amount of \$65,197.00. The lower court entered judgment for the plaintiff in the sum of \$45,637.90 with costs. The lower court thereafter denied defendant's Motion for a New Trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court and a new trial on all issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This lawsuit arises out of an incident which occurred upon the business premises of Gull Laboratories, Inc., sometime during the last half of February 1976.

At that time, plaintiff-respondent Gull Laboratories, Inc., (hereinafter "Gull") was an experimental laboratory in the process of starting up a business to produce diagnostic products and services.

Defendant-appellant Louis A. Roser Company (hereinafter "Roser") was in the business of selling, installing and servicing industrial refrigeration equipment.

The evidence is conflicting as to whether the events giving rise to the incident occurred during the week of February 16-23 or February 23-27, 1976. (R528, 586, 667, 671-72) Towards the beginning of the week in question, some of Gull's employees observed a malfunction in the operation of a small walk-in cooler within the laboratory Gull leases from Fur Breeders Agricultural Cooperative. (R528) Gull alerted Fur Breeders' office which sent repairmen to try to correct the problem. (R Id.) The repairmen visited the laboratory sometime between Wednesday and Friday of the week in question, but were unable to correct the specific malfunction. Fur Breeders' repairmen then called defendant-appellant Roser and asked that a serviceman be sent out to work on the cooler. (R528)

On Friday afternoon, Roser's lead repairman Elmer J. Meyer made a service call at Gull Laboratories. (R667) Upon arrival, Mr. Meyer was taken to the laboratory cooler by one of Gull's lab technicians, Jack Carpenter. (R662, 690-91) The lab cooler is located between the laboratory and glassware preparation room. Together

these rooms comprise the west portion of Gull's business premises. (R530, 647) The dimensions of the cooler are approximately 12'x6'x8', and it is entered through a door on the east side of the cooler. (R556, 663)

The refrigeration unit Roser was called upon to service is suspended from the ceiling in the southwest corner of the cooler, the bottom of the unit being approximately 5-1/2' above the cooler floor. (R648-49) On the south wall of the cooler are four shelves (R588, 664) used to store chemicals; the top shelf lies approximately 10" below the bottom of the refrigeration unit. The compressor for the cooler is located outside on the north wall of the cooler. (R648)

Mr. Meyer was familiar with the equipment involved (R643, 646) and quickly commenced repairs. Meyer asked Carpenter for a small step ladder (R649, 691) so that he could more easily reach the unit. (R656) The evidence is in conflict as to whether Mr. Meyer was furnished with a step ladder or a small portable stool, but regardless, one or the other was made available to and used by Meyer. (R649-50, 663, 691)

Mr. Meyer testified that while in the cooler the only materials he touched were upon the top shelf on the south side of the cooler (R664, 667), the shelf nearest

in proximity to the refrigeration unit. Meyer carefully moved some of the vials and flasks on that shelf to the side to clear them from the work area and provide him with a clear space upon which to place his tools. (R664) Meyer further testified that, while in the cooler, he did not hear any bottles or flasks tip over, nor did he notice any spillage. (R657, 667-68) After servicing the unit within the cooler, Meyer made adjustments to the compressor located on the outer wall of the cooler. (R650-51) He then left Gull Laboratories. While the evidence indicates that Mr. Meyer's visit left some dirt and grime within the laboratory near the cooler (R529, 588, 692, 723), there is no evidence of any lack of care or cleanliness on Meyer's part within the cooler itself.

Sometime during the week following Meyer's service call to Gull Laboratories, Roser was informed by one of Gull's agents that there had been a vial spillage discovered in the lab cooler after Mr. Meyer's visit. (R443) Roser's operating manager, Mr. Glenn A. Roser, Jr., thereafter called Gull's office to offer assistance. (R442)

Mr. Roser spoke with Dr. Myron Wentz, primary owner of Gull, who informed Mr. Roser that following the Roser serviceman's visit, an Ehrlenmeyer Flask had

been found tipped over on its shelf in the cooler with its contents spilled down the side of the wall and onto the floor of the walk-in cooler. (R536-37) Mr. Wentz did not allege that anyone had witnessed the accident, only that the spillage had been discovered, and Gull intended to hold Roser responsible.

The flask contained a conjugate which Gull intended to use, in diluted form, as a part of a testing kit for diagnosing three of the four viral diseases caused by the Herpes virus. (R495) Hopefully, the kit was to be marketed, conditions permitting, sometime after May 1976. (R506 et seq.) In testing disease, the diluted conjugate is applied to a microscope slide (known as a substrate) containing a cell or tissue infected by the specific disease being tested for (R507) and to which blood serum from the person being tested had been applied. If the person has had the disease for some time, his/her body system will have built up specific antibodies against the disease. (R510) If present in the applied serum, these antibodies will attack the virus in the infected cell or tissue. (R Id.) If this occurs, the diagnosis is that the person has the specific disease, even though the virus itself may be incapable of detection. (R. Id.) This joining of the viral particle and specific antibody

are unobservable even under a microscope without the use of the conjugate. (R511-12) The conjugate contains other antibodies which latch onto the antibodies in the patient's serum in the same way as the patient's antibodies latch onto the viral particle. (R511) When treated with a fluorescein, the antibodies within the conjugate act as a marker, making the linkage of the antibodies and viral particles observable through the use of a special microscope. (R511-12)

The conjugate, in this instance, was anti-human globulin prepared from an animal serum. To prepare the conjugate, human blood is drawn from the donor and allowed to clot. The globulins (natural human antibodies within the blood) ooze out of the clot as serum which is then collected. Through various laboratory techniques, the preparer then seeks to isolate the specific globulin or globulins for the disease he wishes to test for, in this case the herpes virus. These isolated substances are known as antigens. In this instance, the specific antigens isolated were identified as IgA, IgG and IgM. (R512-13) Each antigen is then injected into an animal, in this case a goat. (R511) The goat's system views the injected antigen as foreign substance and builds up its own antibodies to the antigens, in this case the human antibodies.

After allowing the animal's system to build up the antibodies for a period of time, the goats are then bled, and their serum tested to determine the titer, or quality concentration, of antibodies in the specific serum. The goat serum is then fractionated. This process hopefully results in additional purification and a serum of sufficient quality and titer for the particular test you wish to run. The titer must be high enough to provide maximum brilliancy when viewed under the fluorescein microscope, yet must fall within the range of permissible titers for that particular test as established by government testing agencies.

The serum is then conjugated. In conjugation, fluorescein is added to the serum in predetermined amounts to provide a "tagging" effect when viewed under a fluorescein microscope. (R507) When applied to the substrate, the conjugated antibodies from the goat serum attack the specific antibodies in the patient's serum in the same manner as when the human antibodies were initially injected into the goat in the form of antigens. If the test components have been properly prepared, the conjugate will not react unless the specific antibody which was injected into the goat is present in the patient's serum. (R511-12)

It is very important that both the antigen and the conjugate be carefully prepared as as to be monospecific

for the particular antibody you wish to produce. (R512-13) The same is true of the viral particle on the substrate slide vis-a-vis the disease for which you are testing. If antibodies other than those of the disease being tested for are present in the conjugate, they will couple with similar antibodies in the patient's serum and produce a positive test. This result will occur even in the absence of the viral disease for which you are testing.

Conjugates for such diagnostic testing can be purchased commercially or prepared individually. Gull states that it chose to prepare its own so as to be able to more carefully control the quality of the test. (R515-17) Gull claims that the special techniques which went into the preparation of its conjugate created a unique product. Dr. Wentz testified that the conjugate's unique nature was derived from the specificity of reaction between the viral particle on the substrate slide and the "tagged" antibody from the patient's serum. Dr. Wentz also testified that the conjugate was of a sufficiently high titer to produce a reactive brilliancy under the microscope which could not be attained through the use of commercially obtainable conjugates. (R609-10)

This alleged uniqueness was controverted by evidence showing that the conjugate had never been tested against commercially prepared conjugates outside of Gull's own testing system. (R575) Furthermore, testimony by the president of a competing microbiological research laboratory, Dr. Nadeem Muna, was to the effect that there were commercially available conjugates which would perform acceptably for Gull's needs. (R694) Dr. Muna also testified that the Gull process was not unique, implementing only standard technology. (R695)

Whatever its worth, Gull had produced 104 ml. of a conjugate which was stored in a 250-ml. uncapped Ehrlenmeyer Flask. This flask was positioned upon the "middle" shelf on the left side of the lab cooler during the afternoon in question. (R591) Testimony adduced at trial indicated that the flask was found lying on its side, on that same shelf, sometime after Mr. Meyer had completed repairs within the cooler.

The evidence is conflicting as to whether the contents of the flask were a total loss. Dr. Wentz claims that the amount of conjugate remaining in the toppled flask was insignificant (R734) and the spilled contents unsalvageable. (RId.) Dr. Muna, on the other hand, testified as to procedures Gull could have used to salvage a portion of the contents and return them to usable

form. (R706) He also illustrated, by example, how a substantial portion of the conjugate should have remained in the tipped flask. (R707-709) Nevertheless, during the week following the accident, Dr. Wentz met with another Gull agent, Mr. David Gillen, and with Mr. Gillen's assistance, prepared a document to be submitted as a claim against Roser alleging the conjugate to be a total loss. This document, which contained Dr. Wentz's estimates of the cost to reproduce the lost conjugate, was introduced at trial as Defendant's Exhibit "16". (R578-81)

Later at trial, however, Gull introduced Plaintiff's Exhibit "13", which was purported to be a summary from Gull's records of the actual cost to reproduce the lost conjugate. (R559-61) The exhibit was admitted over counsel's objection that the summary was in violation of the best-evidence rule. (R561) Although many of the figures on Exhibit P13 closely approximate Gull's original estimates on Exhibit D16, there is a large disparity between the estimated laboratory processing costs for the conjugate shown on the two exhibits.

Dr. Wentz claims the discrepancy is a result of Gull's inability to reproduce an identical conjugate, despite time-consuming attempts to do so. Following the

accident, Gull decided against re-immunization. The decision was largely attributable to the fact that the IgM antigen, which Dr. Wentz claims was the key component of the original conjugate (R514, 571) had been expended in the original immunization and an additional supply was unobtainable. (R572) That antigen had not been prepared by Gull, but by Dr. Stephen St. Joer at Penn State University. (R572)

Gull was eventually able to reproduce two of the tests contemplated in the original kit through the use of bleedings taken from the original goats. These bleedings had been taken concurrently with those used to produce the lost conjugate, but were not considered optimum at the time. Through undisclosed purification procedures, Gull was able to use those bleedings to produce a substitute conjugate with satisfactory results. (R603) This procedure, however, is claimed to have resulted in higher costs than originally estimated.

At trial, the court also allowed, over counsel's objections, evidence and testimony as to the costs incurred by Gull in: (1) Starting up the laboratory. The admitted evidence showed the extent of Dr. Wentz's initial investment in the laboratory, including indebtedness incurred. (R500, 503) (2) Operation of a laboratory. The admitted

testimony included cost estimates of laboratory equipment and inventory (R498, 504), as well as the salaries paid Dr. Wentz and his employees. (R502-03) (3) Market value of lost conjugate. Although no market for the product had been established at trial, the court allowed both testimony by Dr. Wentz and argument by Mr. Richman as to the market value of the conjugate in completed form. (R555, 596, 615, 625) Thusly, evidence of lost sales and profits from the conjugate was allowed to reach the jurors for use in their deliberations despite previous instruction by the court to Mr. Richman that such evidence was to be inadmissible on the grounds of relating to a new business. (R554-55)

The special verdict returned by the jurors found Gull to have been 30% negligent in causing the loss of the conjugate and Roser to have been a 70% cause. Damages were found for Gull in the amount of \$65,197.00. This amount is identical to that shown as the cost to reproduce the lost conjugate set forth in Plaintiff's Exhibit "13".

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Rule 59(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure enumerates the permissible grounds upon which the court

is justified in granting a new trial. Defendant's petition for relief is founded upon the following bases contained therein:

(a) Grounds

* * *

(1) Irregularities in the proceedings of the court, jury * * * by which either party was prevented from having a fair trial.

* * *

(3) Accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against.

* * *

(5) Excessive or inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.

(6) Insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or that it is against the law.

(7) Error in law.

POINT I

The Court Committed Prejudicial Error
In Receiving Exhibit P-13 in Evidence.

A. The court erred in admitting Exhibit P-13 in evidence.

The record shows that Gull claimed Exhibit P-13 as a summary of that portion of its business records pertaining to the cost to reproduce the lost conjugate. On page 559, beginning at line 6, it reads:

Q Dr. Wentz, I had you what has been marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit P-13 and ask you if you can identify that?

A This is an itemizing of the costs to reproduce the conjugate based on company records as to costs incurred.

Q You call them "company records," are they your records?

A Yes.

Q And who prepared the items on Exhibit P-13?

A These were prepared by myself.

Q And what were you referring to when you prepared those items and made those computations?

A I took into consideration all facets that dealt specifically with remaking this conjugate.

Q Were those obtained from your business records?

A Yes, they were.

Q And the first item you have on there is what?

Mr. Berry: Your Honor, I object on the ground there is no proper foundation laid for the admission of this exhibit.

The Court: Have you shown this exhibit to counsel?

Mr.
Richman: Yes, he has a copy.

Mr. Berry: Seems to me like his books and records would be the best evidence of whatever it cost, if that's what it's intended to prove.

The Court: Is this a summation of what is on the books and records?

Mr.
Richman: Part of the books and records he kept himself.

Mr. Berry: I don't think it's on the books and records, your Honor. I haven't seen it on the books.

The Court: Overruled. That will be subject to cross-examination, and I'll let him answer.

[Emphasis added]

Regardless of what Gull now chooses to designate the exhibit (R195, but see assertions at R169, 586), there can be no doubt that the jurors regarded the exhibit as a summary of allegedly existing business records and, upon receipt of the exhibit into evidence, weighed it as such. Gull is, therefore, now estopped to deny its claim that P-13 is a summary and is consequently bound by the law pertaining thereto.

Admitting the introduction of a summary of business as an exception to hearsay evidence is a rule of convenience only. B. Jones, Evidence, at 473 (5th Ed. 1958).

The rule is stated in Jones on Evidence:

§244--Summaries of Multiple Writings.--

Another exception to the best evidence rule, based on necessity, arises when the primary source of proof consists of numerous documents which cannot be conveniently examined in court, and the fact to be proved can only be ascertained by an examination of the whole collection. It is well established that in such a case a summary * * * may be given in evidence by any person who has examined the documents and who is skilled in such matters, provided the result is capable of being ascertained by calculation.

* * *

To the application of this rule, it is essential that the original records or writings be first duly identified and that a sufficient foundation be laid so as to entitle the records or writings themselves to be admitted in evidence. Also, the admissibility of the records themselves as evidence must be established, and they must be available to the opposite party for cross-examination. [Emphasis added]

Utah follows a rule that requires before admission of a summary that the records be produced and made available to the opposite party for purposes of cross-examination. In Sprague, et al., v. Boyles Bros. Drilling Company, 4 Utah 2d 344, 294 P.2d 689 (1956), in an action by a general contractor and surety to recover damages for breach of contract, the court said:

It has been held, and we believe the ruling to be a salutary and expedient one, that where original book entries, documents or other data are so numerous, complex or cumbersome that they cannot be conveniently examined by the fact trier, or where it would materially aid the court and the parties in analyzing such material, that a competent person who has made such examination may present such evidence. This is subject to the limitation that the evidence must be shown to be developed from records, books or documents, the competency of which has been established, the records must be available for examination by the opposing parties, and the witnesses subject to cross-examination concerning such evidence. * * * [Emphasis added]

In Nalder v. Kellogg Sales Company, 6 Utah 2d 367, 314 P.2d 350 (1957), the court said a summary of profit

and loss statements was inadmissible where it was not shown to have been prepared by a person competent to do so, who was subject to cross-examination, or based on other records and data available for examination.

An earlier federal case emphasizing the same points is Berthold-Jennings Lumber Co., et al., v. St. Louis Railroad, et al., 80 F.2d 32 (1935). In Berthold-Jennings the Court said:

While, under certain limitations, an expert may give a summary of his examination of voluminous records, if proper foundation has been laid, with reference to such records so as to make them competent evidence, still to be admissible the records must at least be produced and made available to the opposite party for the purpose of cross-examination.
80 F.2d at 44

In applying these principles to the facts of this case, it is evident that the court erred in admitting the exhibit. The record shows that the exhibit was admitted over defendant's vigorous objection and motion that the testimony relative to Exhibit P-13 be stricken. (R561)

In contrast to the rule stated previously, Jones on Evidence, supra, the records and books from which the summary was compiled were never sufficiently identified so as to make ascertainable exactly what went into the total of \$65,197.00 Gull claims as the cost of reproducing the lost conjugate.

No sufficient foundation was laid to allow the records to be admitted into evidence, even should they exist. The record contains no testimony indicating the type or regularity of the entries, the accounting procedures used or even whether the computations had been rechecked for errors, despite the fact that Dr. Wentz admitted that any records kept were not kept in great detail. (R573)

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