1978

Gull Laboratories Inc. v. Louis A. Roser Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

The Utah Supreme Court has said, in Crellin v. Thomas, 122 Utah 122, 247 P.2d 264 (1952): "The granting of a new trial should never be merely capricious and arbitrary, but should only be done when sound judicial discretion, in the interest of doing justice between the parties, so requires." Rule 59(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure defines the limits of such discretion, stating that the following are the pertinent grounds for granting a new trial:

Rule 59(a) Grounds

* * *

(3) Accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against.

(4) Newly discovered evidence, material for the party making the application, which he could not, with reasonable diligence, have discovered and produced at the trial.

(5) Excessive or inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.

(6) Insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or that it is against the law.

(7) Error in law.

Granting a new trial for reasons not circumscribed by the above mentioned rule would "prostitute the constitutional trial by jury." See Jensen v. Denver & R. G. Ry. Co., 138 Pac. 1185, 1192 (Utah, 1914); Uptown Appliance & Radio Co., Inc. v. Flint, 122 Utah 298, 249 P.2d 826 (1952).

POINT I

THERE WAS NO ERROR COMMITTED BY THE COURT
IN RECEIVING EXHIBIT P-13 IN EVIDENCE.

Roser Company claims that Gull Laboratories is "now estopped to deny its claim that P-13 is a summary and is consequently bound by the law pertaining thereto." (Brief of Appellant, Page 15). Whether that exhibit was or was not a summary is immaterial and Gull Laboratories can certainly not be estopped from claiming other grounds for the propriety of such evidence. Roser Company claims that such exhibit was improperly admitted as violating the best evidence rule. However, it is clear as set forth in 2 JONES, EVIDENCE, §7.4 (6th ed., 1972), p. 96, that the best evidence rule does not apply:

§7.4. Distinction Between Proof of Contents

and Proof of Facts Asserted in Writing. - While the instrument itself is the best evidence, and, if available, the only evidence of what it contains, it often happens that the recitals of the instrument are hearsay, such as the narration of events in a letter. In such cases the writing itself is not admissible to prove the truth of its recitals unless it can qualify under an exception to the hearsay rule. Thus two distinct rules are involved, the one relating to proof of what the instrument contains and the other relating to the probative effect of its recitals. The best evidence rule applies only in the case of the former. So if the writing is admissible to prove the facts which are recited therein, it may or may not have greater weight than oral testimony of the same facts; but the best evidence rule does not apply, and oral testimony and the writing are equally admissible except as limitations may be imposed by some other exclusionary rule of evidence.

Furthermore, there is no preferential rule which requires the production of the writing if the fact to be proved is an independent fact to which the writing is merely collateral or circumstantially relevant... ." (Emphasis added).

The legal principal thus stated has been followed generally in jurisdictions throughout the United States. Illustrative of this is an Illinois case where the Plaintiff attempted to show certain expenses as damages. It will be noted that in this case, Respondent introduced Exhibit P-13 also to show certain expenses as damages. The Illinois court stated in Continental Illinois National Bank and Trust Company of Chicago v. Eastern Illinois Water Co., 31 Ill. App. 3rd 148, 334 N.E.2d 96, 105-06 (1975):

At the trial, in order to prove expenses incurred by plaintiffs as a result of defendant's default on the mortgage, plaintiffs introduced a number of letters which had been sent to defendant by plaintiffs. The letters were nothing more than written notice of expenses which plaintiffs claimed pursuant to one or more provisions of the mortgage. Defendant at the trial objected to the admission of the exhibits as not competent because not the best evidence. The exhibits were admitted over defendant's objections. On this appeal defendant renews its contention that the exhibits were incompetent because not the best evidence... .

Defendant misunderstands the purpose and application of the best evidence rule. The best evidence rule applies only when the contents or terms of a writing are in issue and are, therefore, to be proved. (Citations). In the instant case the issue was not the contents of a writing but rather the amount of expenses that had been incurred by plaintiffs. The best evidence rule does not apply where a party seeks to prove a fact which has an existence independent of any writing, even though the fact might have been reduced to, or is evidenced by, a writing." (Citations). (Emphasis added).

It is clear that the principles set forth in JONES and Continental Illinois are applicable to the question before this court and that it is a misapprehension of the issues to contend that Exhibit P-13 is not admissible because it does not meet the requirements as an exception to the best evidence rule. In Schiltz v. Cullen-Schiltz & Associates, Inc., 228 N.W.2d 10, 19-20 (Iowa, 1975),

plaintiff tendered a "rundown" of costs and wages. The defendant contended that the plaintiff had in his possession receipts, vouchers, agreements or some form of written evidence which would better prove the elements of damage he testified to. On appeal, the court disagreed, saying:

The authors of McCormick on Evidence (Second Ed.), Section 229, say, "the only actual rule that the 'best evidence' phrase denotes today is the rule requiring the production of the writing."

Rule of best evidence obtainable is expressly, if not solely, applicable to documentary evidence, (Citation), and has no application where the fact to be proved is independent of any writing even though the fact has been reduced to a writing or is evidenced by a writing. (Citations).

The rule excludes testimony designed to establish the terms of a document, and requires the document's production instead, but does not exclude testimony which concerns the document without aiming to establish its terms. (Citations).

In Lin Manufacturing Company of Arkansas v. Courson, 436 S.W.2d 472 (Ark. 1969), the court quoted McKelvey on Evidence, 1944 Ed., at §345 as saying: "There is a distinction between proving a fact which has been put in writing and proving the writing itself. Because a fact has been described in writing does not exclude other proof of the fact." (Emphasis added).

The trial court was aware of the distinction

between the issues as perceived by Roser Company and as they actually were. Roser Company's objection was based on the best evidence rule. Objection was made to the introduction of P-13 as follows:

MR. BERRY: Your honor, I object to P-13 as not being the best evidence of the books and move his answer be stricken as not responsive as to showing that he had information firsthand on which he could make this summary.

The court responded as follows:

THE COURT: Based on that objection, I'll overrule it; the exhibit may be admitted. (R561).

It appears, as in the Continental Illinois case that Roser Company "misunderstands the purpose and application of the best evidence rule...In the instant case the issue was not the contents of a writing but rather the amount of expenses that had been incurred by plaintiff." In such a case, the best evidence rule is inapplicable and we need not concern ourselves with compliance with the requirements for allowing an exception thereto. The writing, Exhibit P-13, was as admissible as evidence as the oral testimony of Dr. Wentz concerning the subject matter covered by the writing.

POINT II

EVEN IF EXHIBIT P-13 WERE INADMISSIBLE,
RECEIVING IT AS EVIDENCE WOULD ONLY BE
HARMLESS ERROR.

Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, reads:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or admitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties. (Emphasis added).

Exhibit P-13 itemized the costs of reproduction of the lost conjugate. Oral testimony could properly have been, and in fact was, presented by Dr. Wentz concerning such costs. Company records were maintained by Dr. Wentz and the costs were incurred in work performed under his direction. He was qualified to express his knowledge verbally concerning the value of material and labor involved. Such evidence could properly have been, and was, placed before the jury by oral testimony. The acceptance of Exhibit P-13, even if erroneous, could have had very little effect, if any, on the substantial rights of the Roser Company. Its acceptance by the court was not inconsistent with the substantial justice required by Rule 61.

POINT III

ORDINARY PRUDENCE WOULD HAVE ENABLED
ROSER COMPANY TO KNOW UPON WHAT FACTS
GULL LABORATORIES BASED ITS CLAIM FOR
RELIEF

Roser Company's counsel, who introduced Exhibit D-16, which Gull Laboratories' counsel had never seen, without prior indication to Gull Laboratories that he would do so, complains that he was surprised by Gull Laboratories' introduction of Exhibit P-13. Exhibit D-16 was an estimate prepared before the fact, of what Dr. Wentz thought it would cost to reproduce the conjugate. It was prepared for the purpose of making a claim against the Roser Company's insurance company. Although it was rejected by Roser Company, Roser Company contends now that the figures contained in that estimate are more reasonable than the actual costs of reproduction, precisely determined after the fact. If such were the case, it might be ordinary prudence to neglect the normal and ordinary discovery procedures available to all parties to a lawsuit, e.g., interrogatories and production of documents. However, it is difficult to believe that for the purpose of computing damages, an ordinarily prudent person would accept an estimate of costs to be incurred as more reliable and accurate than a statement of costs actually incurred.

It is very common practice to ask opposing parties

upon interrogatories, to state the evidentiary basis for any claim or defense which they propose to present at trial. However, no interrogatory of any kind was served upon Gull Laboratories in preparation for the trial of this matter. Furthermore, Roser Company did not move, formally under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, or informally by a request directly to Gull Laboratories or its counsel for production of any record of any kind kept by Gull Laboratories. It can scarcely be argued under such circumstances that ordinary prudence was exercised in that aspect of Roser Company's trial preparation.

Roser Company cites at length from Crellin v. Thomas, supra, in support of its claim that a new trial should be granted because ordinary prudence could not have guarded against the receipt of Exhibit P-13. There are adequate legal and factual distinctions to disregard that case in this matter. In Crellin, there was no allegation that one party had surprised the other with evidence presented at trial. The party moving for the new trial had, in fact, discovered new evidence after the trial that would have helped its case at the trial. It is true that the trial court granted a new trial and was upheld on appeal although it was noted that the moving party might have discovered the evidence through Rule 33 discovery. In

that case, the Defendant was sued for slander after calling the Plaintiff a whore. The newly discovered evidence tended to prove that she was, and the Supreme Court obviously recognized the injustice involved in permitting the plaintiff to recover a verdict. It held that the trial court had not abused its discretion in allowing a new trial. No such injustice would result in this case. Furthermore, this case is not governed by Crellin in that no new evidence has been proffered.

Roser Company's counsel cites testimony of Dr. Wentz (Brief of Appellant, Page 16) in his deposition and at the trial to show that he was surprised by the introduction of evidence that the cost to reproduce the conjugate was \$65,197.00. However, Dr. Wentz' deposition (R271) clearly puts Roser Company on notice that such costs were not minimal. After testifying about having discovered a conjugate that could be obtained from a commercial supplier, the following exchange took place:

- Q. Did you know about the availability of that anti-human globulin product from the Baltimore laboratory before you had this accident?
- A. No, I did not. I had to determine myself and to work with the material myself to make it acceptable for use in the product. (Emphasis added).

After asking several questions concerning the

methodology of making the material acceptable, this exchange concluded as follows: (R272).

- Q. How much labor and time did you spend at your lab, yourself, in working on this after the accident to render this material more specific for your purpose?
- A. This has been the thrust of my efforts since the accident, since the loss of the other material. (Emphasis added).

The logical result of granting the relief sought by Roser Company on this appeal would be for attorneys to neglect all discovery in their trial preparation, and then request a new trial on the ground that all damaging evidence produced at the trial was a surprise.

POINT IV

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY
THE VERDICT AND THE DAMAGES AWARDED
WERE NOT EXCESSIVE

There was ample evidence presented to support the verdict and to sustain the award of damages. Roser Company's witnesses did counter much of Gull Laboratories' evidence but all evidence was before the jury and it found in favor of Gull Laboratories.

Although Roser Company claims that "uncontroverted evidence given during the trial aptly illustrates Meyer's compliance...[with the standard of care required of a reasonable and prudent person]", (Brief of Appellant,

Page 24), this ignores the facts as set forth at the trial.

Mr. Carpenter, an employee of Gull Laboratories, testified to the careless habits of Roser Company's agent, Mr. Meyer and to the fact that he discovered the spillage after Meyer had left the walk-in refrigerator (R693) and that the conjugate had not been spilled prior to that time. (R694).

This testimony was corroborated by Mrs. Wentz (R702) who was working in the office at the time the spillage occurred. In addition, Dr. Wentz testified in more detail concerning what appeared to be the careless habits of Meyer (R527-31) and the fact that the conjugate was intact prior to Meyer entering the refrigerator and that it was spilled and totally unsalvageable after he left (R531-38, 672a-73a).

Although, as Roser Company points out, this evidence was challenged by statements of Meyer, the determination of this issue is within the responsibility of the jury and it, on the basis of the considerable evidence before it, decided this question of liability against Roser Company and in favor of Gull Laboratories.

With respect to the contention that the award of damages was excessive upon the evidence, such a position, again, is not sustained by the record. Dr. Wentz testified

in great detail concerning the unique quality of his product (R544-52) and his efforts to reproduce the conjugate in a quality equal to that of the spilled conjugate (R556-59) and the costs involved in doing so (R559-61). The unique quality of Dr. Wentz' conjugate was corroborated by Dr. Spendlove, a virologist on the faculty at Utah State University, (R641a-45a) and Dr. Robbins, Supervisor of the Immuno Chemistry Lab at the L.D.S. Hospital in Salt Lake City. (R661a).

Roser Company again countered this evidence concerning damages with testimony from Dr. Wentz' competitor, Dr. Muna, and all of this evidence was properly before the jury. The jury exercised its prerogative to decide which evidence to believe and did so in favor of Gull Laboratories.

CONCLUSION

1. There was no error committed by the court below in receiving Exhibit P-13 in evidence.

2. Even if Exhibit P-13 was inadmissible as evidence, only harmless error was committed because the evidence contained therein was properly before the jury in another form.

3. Ordinary prudence would have enabled Roser Company to know upon what facts Gull Laboratories based its

claim for relief.

4. The evidence was sufficient to justify the verdict and the damages awarded were not excessive.